Is Sphingosine 1-Phosphate (S1P) Produced by Sphingosine Kinase 2 (SphK2); Important for Learning and Memory?



Adeena Shafique

(NUST201463538MASAB92514F)

Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences,

National University of Sciences and Technology

Islamabad, Pakistan.

2016

Is Sphingosine 1-Phosphate (S1P) Produced by Sphingosine Kinase 2 (SphK2); Important for Learning and Memory?

A thesis submitted as a final year project in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science

By

Adeena Shafique

NUST201463538MASAB92514F

Supervised by: Dr. Saadia Zahid

Co-supervised by: Dr. Anthony Don

Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences

National University of Sciences and Technology

Islamabad, Pakistan

2016

Dedicated to

My beloved parents, my strength and inspiration, Dr. C.M. Shafique and Mrs. Tabassum Shafique

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In the name of Allah, the Most Gracious and the Most Merciful All praises to Allah for all the blessings He has bestowed upon me, I am eternally grateful to Him.

This work would not have been a reality if it weren't for the place I call home, NUST. NUST has not only given me this degree, but also given me an experience of a lifetime. I owe my most sincere gratitude to Engineer Muhammad Asghar, Rector NUST.

This work would not have been possible had it not been for my mentor, advisor and supervisor, Dr. Anthony Don. It was his unfaltering faith and support that helped me bring this work to completion. I could not have asked for a better supervisor. I would also express my gratitude for Dr. Saadia Zahid, Dr. Touqeer Ahmed, Dr. Aneela Javed, and Dr. Mohammad Qasim for their guidance as my GEC members.

I owe my sincerest gratitude to my teachers specially Dr. Waqas Nasir Chaudhry for his immense support and advice through tough times, for reminding me of my potential and for driving me to my goals.

I am greatly indebted to my UNSW research group fellows; my colleague and friend Mona Lei for her invaluable friendship and support. Mona, thank you for making Sydney 'happening'. I would not have made the most of it if it weren't for you. I would also thank Timothy Couttas and Ameline Lim for their guidance throughout the study and Collin Tran for making work enjoyable.

I am blessed to have the greatest support system; Sidra Khan thank you for being my person. Sammia Rehman and Muhammad Taha Safdar you people are my gems. Ayimen Jadoon, you will always be my soul-sister.

I also have to thank Mahmmod family, Rehan Ansari and Julie Sijecic for being excellent hosts in Sydney.

I am eternally thankful to my parents for believing in me, for being my sunshine and for always supporting me. The person that I am today is because of you two. I could not have asked for a better set of parents. Last but not the least; I thank my brother, Zaryab Shafique for his unconditional care, love and support and above all, for bearing with me.

Adeena Shafique

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Title | Page No. |
|-------------------|-------------|
| Acknowledgments | V |
| Table of Contents | vi |
| List of Acronyms | ix |
| List of Figures | x |
| List of Tables | xiii |
| Abstract | xiv |

Chapter 1

Introduction

| 1.1 | Sphingosine 1-Phosphate- an enigma in the brain | 1 |
|-----|---|---|
| 1.2 | Problem Statement | 2 |
| 1.3 | Research Objectives | 3 |
| 1.4 | Experimental Design | 4 |

Chapter 2

Literature Review

| 2.1 | Alzheimer's Disease- A Brief Introduction | 5 |
|-----|---|---|
| 2.2 | Current Treatments for AD | 6 |
| 2.3 | Lipids and AD | 6 |
| 2.4 | Sphingolipids | 7 |

| 2.5 | Sphingosine 1-Phosphate | 8 |
|-----|--|----|
| | 2.5.1 Physiological functions of S1P | 9 |
| | 2.5.2 Role of S1P in memory and cognition | 11 |
| | 2.5.3 Effect of S1P via SphK2 on histone acetylation | 11 |

Chapter 3

Materials and Methods

| 3.1 | Animals | 13 |
|-----|---|----|
| 3.2 | Chemicals | 13 |
| 3.3 | Genotyping | 13 |
| 3.4 | Behavioral Phenotyping | 13 |
| | 3.4.1 Elevated Plus Maze | 14 |
| | 3.4.2 Cheeseboard Paradigm | 14 |
| | 3.4.3 Fear Conditioning followed by Extinction | 16 |
| 3.5 | Mice Euthanasia | 17 |
| 3.6 | Lipid Extraction, Analysis and Quantification by Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry (LC- MS/MS) | 17 |
| 3.7 | Statistical Analysis | 18 |
| 3.8 | In Silico Analysis of Functional Association Network of SphK2 | 18 |
| | | |

Chapter 4

Results

| 4.1 | Genotyping of WT and SphK2-/- Mice | 19 |
|-----|------------------------------------|----|
|-----|------------------------------------|----|

| 4.2 | Anxiety related parameters tested in the Elevated Plus Maze | 19 |
|-----|--|----|
| 4.3 | Spatial Learning and Memory in the Cheeseboard | 21 |
| 4.4 | Fear Conditioning followed by Extinction | 23 |
| 4.5 | Quantification of Brain Sphingolipids | 26 |
| 4.6 | Functional Association Network of SphK2 | 28 |

Chapter 5

| Discussion | 29 |
|------------|----|
| | |
| Chapter 6 | |
| Conclusion | 32 |
| | |
| Chapter 7 | |
| References | 33 |

LIST OF ACRONYMS

| AD | Alzheimer's Disease |
|----------|--|
| СВ | Cheeseboard Paradigm |
| CNS | Central Nervous System |
| CS | Conditioned Stimulus |
| EPM | Elevated Plus Maze |
| FC | Fear Conditioning |
| LC-MS/MS | Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry |
| S1P | Sphingosine 1-Phosphate |
| SL | Sphingolipids |
| SphK1 | Sphingosine Kinase 1 |
| SphK2 | Sphingosine Kinase 2 |
| SphK2-/- | Sphingosine Kinase 2 Knock-Out Mice |
| US | Unconditioned Stimulus |
| WT | Wild-type |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure | Title | Page No. |
|--------|---|----------|
| 1 | Formation of Sphingosine 1-Phosphate: Ceramide is the precursor lipid of sphingosine which is then phosphorylated by either of the two kinases, SphK1 or SphK2 to produce S1P. | 8 |
| 2 | Signaling pathways activated by S1P and its receptors: DAG: Diacylglycerol; ERK: extracellular regulated kinase; IP3: Inositol triphosphate; PI3K: Phosphatidylinositol 3' kinase; Rock: Rho-associated protein kinase; S1P1–5: S1P receptors 1 to 5; SPHK1: Sphingosine kinase 1; SPHK2: Sphingosine kinase 2; SRF: Serum response factor. Modified from (Don et al., 2014). | 9 |
| 3 | Elevated Plus Maze Apparatus | 14 |
| 4 | Cheeseboard Apparatus | 16 |
| 5 | Fear Conditioning and Extinction Protocol: Freezing measured by Any-Maze TM software. | 17 |
| 6 | Mouse-tail genotyping on 2% agarose gel where L= 10 kb ladder; Lane 1= negative control; Lanes 2- 26=sample DNA. (N= 11 WTs and 12 SphK2-/-). | 19 |

- 7 (a-c) Significantly altered behaviours in the EPM: (a) Significant 21 difference in time spent grooming between the two genotypes (as analysed by Student's t test) is indicated by p value=0.0095. SphK2-/- mice spent more time grooming compared to the WT mice. (b) Significant difference in time spent freezing between the two genotypes (as analysed by Student's t test) is indicated by p value=0.003. SphK2-/- mice spent more time freezing compared to the WT mice. (c) Significant difference in the number of entries in the Centre of the EPM between the two genotypes (as analysed by Student's t test) is indicated by p value=0.0443. All mice were given 5 min to explore the maze. WT mice. Data are presented as mean ± SEM.
- 8 (a-d) Spatial learning and memory in the cheeseboard: (a) Latency 23 (s) to find the food reward (averaged across 3 trials per day) during training. Time spent in the target zone according to chance (=20s) is marked with a dotted line; (b) Latency (s) to find the food reward (averaged across 3 trials per day) during reversal training. Time spent in the target zone according to chance (=20s) is marked with a dotted line; (c) Percentage time (%) spent in the target zone of the CB (i.e. in close proximity to the well containing food reward) during the 2 min probe trial; (d) Percentage time (%) spent in the target zone of the CB during the 2 min reversal probe trial. Time spent in the target zone according to chance (=12.5%) is marked with a dotted line. Data presented for zone time does not include the time spent in the centre zone. Data for SphK2-/- and WT mice are shown as mean \pm SEM.

Fear Conditioning- Context Test: % Time spent freezing 24 during fear conditioning (day 1), context (day 3) and extinction (days 4 and 5) trials. Both genotypes learnt the association between the CS and FS (****, p < 0.0001 compared to context test day). There is no evidence of extinction of the fear memory however difference between the two genotypes is significant (#, p < 0.05 SphK2-/- versus WT; ##, p < 0.01 SphK2-/- versus WT). P values are analyzed by 2way ANOVA. Data are presented as mean ± SEM.

9

- 10 Fear Response to the Cue: Time spent freezing (%) in the 25 cue test. Mice were exposed to the auditory cue in a different contextual environment. Graph shows percentage of total time spent freezing before, during, and after the auditory cue P value analysed by 2way ANOVA revealed significant difference between genotypes before the cue (#, p=0.01). Data are presented as mean ± SEM.
- 11 Brain levels of S1P and dihydro-S1P remarkably low in 27 SphK2-/- mice: (A and B) S1P and dihydro-S1P content is heavily reduced in hippocampus and cerebellum of SphK2-/mice compared to WT mice; (C-D) Levels of sphingosine and dihydrosphingosine increased in hippocampus of SphK2-/- mice compared to WT mice with no significant change in the cerebellum. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM.
- 12 Functional association network of identified proteins: High 28 confidence protein-protein interaction network of identified proteins derived from the STRING database (http://stringdb.org). Each protein is represented as a node with edged interactions.

LIST OF TABLE(S)

| Table Number | Title | |
|--------------|-----------------------------------|----|
| 1 | Dataset for the EPM Test Measures | 20 |

Abstract

Sphingosine 1-Phosphate (S1P) is a potent lipid-derived signaling molecule that signals through its own family of five G-protein coupled receptors, promoting neurotransmission and neuroprotection. Recent research has demonstrated a loss of S1P in individuals with pre-clinical and clinical Alzheimer 's disease (AD), particularly in brain regions that are heavily affected by the disease. The loss of S1P was attributed to loss of its biosynthetic enzyme, sphingosine kinase 2 (SphK2). Given that loss of S1P in the hippocampus and temporal cortex tracks closely with neuronal atrophy in AD brains, we hypothesized that loss of SphK2 in mice may produce deficits in spatial, recognition, and associative learning and memory. These aspects of memory were tested using the elevated plus maze, cheeseboard paradigm and fear conditioning tests in SphK2-/- and Wild-type (WT) mice. The findings of this study are not indicative of deficits in learning and memory but indicate an anxiety phenotype in the SphK2-/- mice as indicated by the behavioral tests. The total S1P content was markedly lowered in the brains of SphK2-/- mice as compared to the WT mice.

Keywords

Sphingosine 1-Phosphate; S1P; Sphingosine Kinase; Learning; Memory; Alzheimer's Disease; Elevated Plus Maze; Cheeseboard Paradigm; Fear Conditioning

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Sphingosine 1-Phosphate- an enigma in the brain

Sphingosine 1- Phosphate (S1P), an important sphingolipid, has been recognized as a critical bioactive signaling metabolite with highest concentrations in the brain (Edsall and Spiegel, 1999). Sphingolipid metabolism is central to normal neurological functioning as impaired sphingolipid metabolism results in numerous neurological disorders (Muhle *et al.*, 2013). Most important of these lipids, notably sphingosine, S1P and ceramide are vital in regulating various cellular signaling pathways (Hannun and Obeid, 2008).

Ever since the discovery of S1P more than two decades ago; tremendous progress has been made to comprehend its mechanism of action and role in health and disease. S1P is a degradation product and functional antithesis of ceramide. Ceramide is hydrolysed by ceramidases to sphingosine, which in turn is phosphorylated to S1P or converted back to ceramide via a salvage pathway (van Echten-Deckert and Herget, 2006). Sphingosine is phosphorylated to S1P by two kinases, sphingosine kinase 1 and 2 (SphK1 and SphK2) (Kohama et al., 1998; Liu et al., 2000). The two SphKs and the enzymes that catalyze its degradation; S1P lyase, two S1P phosphatases and three lipid phosphate phosphatases tightly regulate S1P levels (Brindley, 2004). The S1P that is formed can then act intracellularly as well as extracellularly. Secreted S1P acts through five G-protein coupled receptors, S1P₁₋₅ (Maceyka et al., 2012) via either an autocrine or a paracrine fashion in a variety of physiological processes. S1P is vital for neural tube and vascular system development during embryogenesis (Mizugishi et al., 2005) and has been shown to protect cultured cortical neurons against A β toxicity, further potentiating its protective role in the brain (Malaplate-Armand et al., 2006). It also promotes glutamate secretion via S1P₃ mediated signaling from hippocampal neurons thereby validating its role in memory consolidation (Kajimoto et al., 2007; Kanno et al., 2010).

The recent explosion of interest in S1P and its signaling system is attributed to FDA approval of the drug Fingolimod (FTY720) for the treatment of relapsing multiple sclerosis (Mandala *et al.*, 2002; Scott, 2011). FTY720 is a synthetic analogue of sphingosine and is phosphorylated *in vivo* by SphK2 to its S1P mimetic, FTY720-phosphate. Phosphorylated FTY720 is an agonist of S1P receptors (S1P₁, S1P₃, S1P₄ and S1P₅) (Mandala *et al.*, 2002; Brinkmann *et al.*, 2002). FTY720 can cross the

blood-brain barrier and accumulate in the CNS. FTY720-phosphate like S1P also protects against A β toxicity (Doi *et al.*, 2013). In agreement to this study, rats were administered with A β peptides in another study and were protected against hippocampal neuronal loss upon FTY720 treatment (Asle-Rousta *et al.*, 2013). Accordingly FTY720 treatment is reported to enhance fear extinction memory (Hait *et al.*, 2014; Efstathopoulos *et al.*, 2015) and suppress anxiety (di Nuzzo *et al.*, 2015) in mice. These effects are postulated to occur through nuclear-localised SphK2 and suppression of histone deacetylases (Hait *et al.*, 2014; di Nuzzo *et al.*, 2015) but could also be related to enhanced neurogenesis (Efstathopoulos *et al.*, 2015; di Nuzzo *et al.*, 2015).

The two sphingosine kinases have tissue specific expression. SphK1 is mainly localized to the cytosol whereas SphK2 has nuclear expression. SphK2 is involved in regulating gene transcription in the nucleus where it produces S1P that inhibits histone deacytylases thereby increasing histone acetylation (Hait *et al.*, 2009). The expression of the two SphKs in the brain has been debatable with contradictory reports as to which isoform has predominant expression. One study reported regulation of glutamate secretion in embryonic rat hippocampal neurons by SphK1 (Kajimoto *et al.*, 2007). Another study has reported that SphK1 is the dominant isoform in the mouse brain (Fukuda *et al.*, 2003). On the other hand, there are studies that have reported SphK2 as the dominant isoform in human as well as rodent brain (Katsel *et al.*, 2007; Blondeau *et al.*, 2007).

Recently loss of S1P in the hippocampus and associated temporal grey matter of subjects with pre-clinical Alzheimer's Disease (AD) pathology has been demonstrated (Couttas *et al.*, 2014), highlighting the importance of determining whether S1P does indeed play a significant role in learning and memory. We therefore sought to confirm in this study whether the absence of SphK2 produces deficits in spatial reference memory, or fear memory acquisition and extinction.

1.2 Problem Statement

Worldwide there are 47.5 million people with dementia and 7.7 million cases are being diagnosed every year (Alzheimer's Association, 2016). The total number of people with dementia is projected to triple by the year 2050 (Alzheimer's Association, 2016). AD, the major form of dementia is a public health concern of colossal magnitude. Currently there are no treatments to cure AD and palliative methods offer

a very bleak prognosis to this mentally-crippling disease. Pakistan being a lowermiddle income country has an underrated record of AD patients, mostly because it is assumed to be an unavoidable consequence of old age. Our population needs to know the difference between dementia, which is not necessarily associated with significant morbidity and mortality, and AD, which is based on a definite underlying pathology, making it susceptible to manipulation by therapeutics to prevent and possibly treat this debilitating neurodegenerative condition. Besides supportive methods, there is no permanent treatment for AD. There is a dire need to improve our comprehension of the disease's pathology to introduce better therapeutic strategies to combat and reduce the global financial burden of medical, social and informal care of this mentallydebilitating condition. It has only been recently reported that S1P levels are lowered in patients of AD (Couttas et al., 2014). This raises the possibility that manipulating S1P or its receptors could lead to novel therapeutic approaches for AD. Further studies exploring the molecular mechanisms of defective S1P signaling are clearly required to better understand its role in AD pathology. The findings of this research could have vast implications in the comprehension of the pathology, treatment and prevention of AD. It can lead to a better understanding of the aberrant S1P signaling pathways involved in this condition and possibly guide the use of target-specific therapeutics to arrest or reverse the progression of the disease.

1.3 Research Objectives:

- To determine whether loss of S1P in the brain produces deficits in spatial, recognition, and associative memory and learning in mice.
- To determine whether SphK1 compensates levels of S1P in brains of SphK2-/mice.

1.4 Experimental Design



Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.1 Alzheimer's Disease - A Brief Introduction

Alzheimer's Disease (AD), a mentally crippling and fatal neurodegenerative disease, is the most common form of dementia (Kalaria et al., 2008; Forette and Boller, 1991). Several hypotheses have been postulated to explain the causes of AD but the actual etiology of the disease remains elusive (Karran et al., 2011; Francis et al., 1999; Maccioni et al., 2010). Currently, AD affects 25-30 million people worldwide, with the number of patients diagnosed with AD projected to double in the next ten years (Thiess and Bleiler, 2011; Prince et al., 2013) and guadruple by 2050 if disease progression is left untreated (Brookmeyer et al., 2007). AD is the sixth leading cause of mortality in the United States. The chief risk factor associated with AD is ageing as dementia strikes people over the age of 60 (Prince et al., 2013). The majority of patients have late-onset AD whereas early-onset AD accounts for less than 1% of all the AD cases (Brouwers et al., 2008). This rare form of AD can affect people who are genetically predisposed to the disease. Affected individuals may carry mutations in the gene that codes for amyloid precursor protein (APP) or mutations in either the presenelin 1 or presenilin 2 gene, which codes for part of the enzyme responsible for the production of amyloid β (Revest, 1998).

The major pathological hallmarks of AD are the accumulation of extracellular, senile plaques of amyloid β (A β) peptides (Braak *et al.*, 1989; Glenner, 2012) and intracellular neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) (Grundke-Iqbal, 1986; Braak *et al.*, 2006). A β peptides are produced by the cleavage of amyloid precursor protein (APP) whereas NFTs are formed by aggregation of hyperphosphorylated paired helical filaments of the protein Tau.

AD is characterized clinically by progressive memory loss (Braak and Braak, 1988; Butter *et al.*, 1988), cognitive decline (Sperling *et al.*, 2011), aberrant behavior (Lyketsos *et al.*, 2000), and anosognosia (Agnew and Morris, 1998; Kalbe *et al.*, 2005; Orfei *et al.*, 2010); and pathologically by neuronal cell death (Braak and Braak, 1988), loss of synapses (DeKosky and Scheff, 1990), loss of functional cholinergic neurons (Whitehouse *et al.*, 1981; Coyle *et al.*, 1983) and astrogliosis (Diedrich *et al.*, 1987).

2.2 Current Treatments for AD

Current treatments available for AD offer a bleak prognosis to the patients and are only palliative in nature. Four commercially available drugs to treat dementia include the cholinesterase inhibitors donepezil, rivastigmine and galantamine, and the glutamate antagonist memantine. Most of the recent treatment strategies have been directed at anti-amyloid approaches with unsuccessful results. Trials including monoclonal antibodies namely bapineuzumab and solanezumab against A β peptides did not yield positive clinical results (Salloway *et al.*, 2014; Doody *et al.*, 2014). These discouraging results demonstrate a need for more research into the molecular basis for AD. Besides anti-amyloid trials, tau-modulating therapies are also under clinical investigation. A 5-HT₆ antagonist, idalopirdine used in combination with donepezil showed significant cognitive benefit for the treatment of mild-to-moderate AD (Atri and Colding-Jorgensen, 2014). Other therapeutic strategies include targeting insulin signalling (Claxton et al., 2015), deep brain stimulation (Lyketsos *et al.*, 2012) and using medical foods like Axona (aimed at supplying energy to neurons) (Sharma *et al.*, 2014) and Souvenaid (enhances synaptic function) (Olde *et al.*, 2015).

2.3 Lipids and AD

Brain, after adipose tissue is the most lipid rich organ of the body. Most important lipid species in the brain include cholesterol, phospholipids and sphingolipids. Lipids are significant for exerting crucial structural and physiological roles in the central nervous system (CNS) (Adibhatla and Hatcher, 2007). Lipids are essential structural components of cell membranes where they are responsible for maintaining the integrity of membrane bilayer and modulating cell fluidity. Lipids are also essential components of the myelin sheath, providing the hydrophobic barrier that maintains fast propagation of electrochemical gradients along axons (Lane and Farlow, 2005). Aberrant lipid metabolism can result in homeostatic dysregulation and neurodegeneration (Abad-Rodriguez *et al.*, 2004).

The link between AD and lipids was first established after the discovery of the major genetic risk factor for AD, the ε 4 allele of the *APOE* gene, which encodes the lipid transport protein apolipoprotein E (apoE) (Corder *et al.*, 1993; Bertram and Tanzy, 2008). ApoE mediates the transport of cholesterol, phospholipids and sulfatides in the brain and is known to mediate lipid metabolism (Han et al., 2003). Although the role of apoE is not clear in AD pathogenesis, it is suggested to play a role in A β deposition

in the brain (Holtzman et al., 2000). Interestingly, in 1906, Alois Alzheimer also observed a third pathological hallmark of the disease: the presence of lipid filled granules in the cell bodies of neurons (Alzheimer, 1911). This hallmark has only recently gained attention of the scientific world owing to technical advances in the study of lipid vacuoles. Indeed, AD brains are composed of abnormally elevated levels of lipoid granules (Foley, 2010).

Lipids also modulate amyloid β and tau pathologies. The processing of APP to form insoluble A β peptides occurs in cholesterol and sphingolipid rich microdomains known as 'lipid rafts'. This processing is predominantly amyloidogenic, catalyzed by β -site APP cleavage enzyme 1 (BACE1 or β -secretase), as ample amounts of the enzyme are localized to lipid rafts (Ehehalt *et al.*, 2003). Outside the rafts APP processing largely occurs via the non-amyloidogenic α -secretase pathway. Studies have demonstrated that lipids modulate the activity of BACE1 in lipid rafts (Riddell *et al.*, 2001; Ehehalt *et al.*, 2003). Depleting cholesterol results in reduced association of BACE1 with lipid rafts, which in turn decreases the amyloidogenic processing of APP (Hattori et al., 2006). On the contrary, APP processing by BACE1 is strongly enhanced by increasing cholesterol levels (Vetrivel *et al.*, 2010). These studies collectively indicate that appropriate levels of BACE1 in lipid rafts are important for the production of amyloid β . An important subgroup of lipids, sphingolipids which is significantly dysregulated in AD will now be reviewed.

2.4 Sphingolipids

Sphingolipids (SL), a diverse class of signaling and structural lipids, represent onethird of the total lipid content in eukaryotic cell membranes and are found in high abundance in the CNS. SL consist of a fatty acid chain amide linked to a sphingoid base backbone, which is usually sphingosine in mammals (Bartke and Hannun, 2009). Functional diversity among SL arises from variation in the fatty acid chain length, hydroxylation and saturation of sphingosine and fatty acid chains (Merrill, 2011). Some of these lipids including sphingomyelin, ceramide, dihydroceramide and their derivatives play crucial roles in the CNS. Sphingomyelin (SM) is a major component of myelin sheath of neurons and lipid rafts of cell membranes. Many neurological disorders associated with disruptions in action potentials are due to degradation of sphingomyelin. Altered levels of SM also lead to some irreversible neurological disorders (Muhle *et al.*, 2013). Ceramide, the precursor of sphingosine is an important sphingolipid associated with apoptosis and regulation of neurotransmitter release (Hannun and Obeid, 1995; Bartke and Hannun, 2009). Studies have shown that ceramide and sphingosine levels are enhanced in the brains of AD patients (He et al, 2010). On the other hand, sphingomyelin and sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) levels are greatly reduced in AD brains. The enzymes that regulate sphingomyelin levels are sphingomyelin synthase and sphingomyelinases. One possible cause for elevation of ceramide in AD is due to increased activity of acidic sphingomyelinase (He *et al.,* 2010). S1P production is illustrated in figure 1 (Fig. 1).

Cumulatively, these studies suggest that perturbations of sphingolipid metabolism have implications in memory, learning and AD pathology. However, the focus of this review will now be on sphingosine 1-phosphate.



Figure 1: Formation of Sphingosine 1-Phosphate. Ceramide is the precursor lipid of sphingosine which is then phosphorylated by either of the two kinases, SphK1 or SphK2 to produce S1P. ER: Endoplasmic reticulum.

2.5 Sphingosine 1-Phosphate (S1P)

Sphingosine 1-phosphate is a potent bioactive signaling metabolite crucial for numerous physiological processes such as endothelial barrier integrity, lymphocyte trafficking, neurotransmitter release, cell growth and survival (Maceyka *et al.*, 2012). S1P is formed by the phosphorylation of sphingosine, the backbone of sphingolipids in mammalian cells [refer to a diagram here]. Phosphorylation of S1P is mediated by two isoforms of the enzyme sphingosine kinase; sphingosine kinase 1 (SphK1) and sphingosine kinase 2 (SphK2) (Liu *et al.*, 2012; Maceyka *et al.*, 2012). The levels of S1P are strictly regulated by the two sphingosine kinases, as well as the enzymes that catalyze its degradation, S1P lyase and S1P phosphatases (Maceyka *et al.*, 2012).

Unlike SphK1 which is localized exclusively in the cytosol, SphK2 is found mainly in the nucleus. S1P may function either as an intracellular signaling molecule or as an extracellular ligand. A family of five G-protein coupled receptors, S1P₁₋₅, mediates the extracellular functions of S1P. S1P receptors are widely expressed throughout the CNS, both in neurons and glial cells (Dev *et al.*, 2008). S1P₁₋₃ are highly expressed in neurons and microglia. Astrocytes predominantly express S1P₁ and S1P₃. Mature oligodendrocytes abundantly express S1P₅ in addition to S1P₁, S1P₂ and S1P₃ (Novgorodov *et al.*, 2007). Binding of S1P to any of its receptors activates G-proteins, which then leads to a cascade of intracellular events ultimately regulating many physiological processes (O'Sullivan and Dev, 2013) (Fig. 2).



Figure 2: Signaling pathways activated by S1P and its receptors. DAG: Diacylglycerol; ERK: extracellular regulated kinase; IP3: Inositol triphosphate; PI3K: Phosphatidylinositol 3' kinase; Rock: Rho-associated protein kinase; S1P1–5: S1P receptors 1 to 5; SPHK1: Sphingosine kinase 1; SPHK2: Sphingosine kinase 2; SRF: Serum response factor. *Modified from (Don et al., 2014).*

2.5.1 Physiological functions of S1P

S1P is the functional antithesis of ceramide; wherein S1P is anti-apoptotic and ceramide is pro-apoptotic. S1P is known to promote cell growth, stimulate cell proliferation, differentiation and survival via signal transduction through various

different pathways (Olivera et al., 1999). S1P is known to induce proliferation of neural precursor cells (NPCs) via S1PRs (Kimura *et al.*, 2008). A study employing SphK knockout mice showed mice lacked complete neural tube development during embryogenesis, implicating a role for S1P in normal growth and development (Mizugishi *et al.*, 2005). The role of S1P in neurogenesis has been demonstrated by using cell lines such as PC12, where S1P promoted survival of cultured neurons (Milstien *et al.*, 2007). S1P has also been implemented in inducing cell proliferation in rat hippocampal NPCs (Choi and Chun, 2013). In another study, S1P conferred neuroprotection against cerebral ischemia in mice (Zhou *et al.*, 2010). In support of this study, sphingosine kinase 2 KO mice suffered from neurological damage following cerebral ischemia (Pfeilschifter *et al.*, 2011).

By utilizing primary neurons and neuronal cell lines in vitro it has been shown that S1P signaling regulates important neuronal functions. S1P signaling regulates neuronal survival/death, neuronal excitability, neuronal cell migration, synapse formation and synaptic neurotransmission. S1P signaling in astrocytes (the main type of glial cells in the CNS) has been shown to influence astrogliosis in many disease models (Choi *et al.*, 2011). Particularly, S1P₁ and S1P₃ are the receptors predominantly implicated in disease conditions. S1P signaling is also important for microglial activation.

S1P signaling system has gained immense attention in recent years especially following FDA approval of S1P analog drug FTY720 (Fingolimod) for the treatment of relapsing multiple sclerosis (Brinkmann *et al.*, 2010). FTY720 has been shown to cross the blood-brain barrier (Foster *et al.*, 2012) and increase levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) via MAPK pathway in mouse models of Rett syndrome lacking *Mecp2* gene, indicating a neuroprotective role of FTY720 (Deogracias *et al.*, 2012). In another study, primary human astrocytes were stimulated with fingolimod to analyze its neuroprotective function. This study reported induction of neurotrophic factors namely leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), interleukin 11 (IL11) and heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor (HBEGF) and also inhibition of inflammatory cytokines in astrocytes. They also reported similar neuroprotective effects of endogenous S1P in astrocytes (Hoffmann *et al.*, 2015).

Recently, fingolimod's functions were analyzed in terms of neuronal gene regulation in mouse neuronal cultures. It was reported that fingolimod enhanced neurite growth in primary neurons. In CNS neurons, fingolimod upregulated genes including *cFos*, *FosB*, *Egr1 and Egr2* (Anastasiadou, S., and Knöll, 2016). This study validates a neuroprotective role for FTY720 and S1P.

2.5.2 Role of S1P in memory formation and cognition

Evidence supports an important role of S1P in memory formation and cognition. S1P has been shown to modulate neuronal excitability by activating release of glutamate in primary hippocampal mossy fibre neurons (Kajimoto et al., 2007). Activation of hippocampal mossy fibre neurons is linked to short-term memory formation. S1P mediated glutamate secretion, from pre-synaptic hippocampal neurons, is essential for spatial memory (Kanno et al., 2010). SphK1 KO mice that had reduced levels of S1P performed poorly in cognitive tests compared to their wild-type littermates. Adding exogenous S1P to hippocampal neurons of these mice increased excitatory post synaptic potentials (Kanno et al., 2010). More recently it was shown that S1P levels are significantly reduced over the course of AD (Couttas et al., 2014). The loss of S1P was attributed to the reduced activity of sphingosine kinase 2. It is also important to note that loss of S1P was concurrent with brain tau pathology, suggesting a direct relationship between tau pathology and S1P depletion. Reduced expression of sphingosine kinase 1 and increased sphingosine 1-phosphate lyase was also recently reported in AD brains, which would be expected to result in decreased levels of S1P (Ceccom et al., 2014). These results implicate a strong role of S1P in AD pathogenesis.

2.5.3 Effect of S1P via SphhK2 on histone acetylation

Studies have sought to determine the nuclear role of SphK2 owing to its predominant nuclear localization (Ding *et al.*, 2007). Hait et al., (Hait *et al.*, 2009) determined the association of SphK2 with histone proteins. It was observed that histone 3 (H3) was specifically associated with SphK2 and not with SphK1 in nuclear extracts of MCF7 breast cancer cells. Acetylation of lysine residues in histone proteins is maintained by a delicate equilibrium between histone acetyltransferases (HATs) and histone deacetylases (HDACs) (Clayton *et al.*, 2006; Yang and Seto, 2008). S1P was found to inhibit the catalytic activity of endogenous as well as recombinant HDAC1 and HDAC2 (Hait *et al.*, 2009). Consequently, overexpression of SphK2 enhanced acetylation of lysine 9 of H3 (H3-K9) and lysine 5 of H4 (H4-K5). On the contrary, catalytically inactive SphK2 or active SphK1 did not affect the acetylation status of

these residues. This further confirmed the specificity of SphK2 for these histone proteins in the nucleus. Interestingly, levels of S1P were reduced in the nucleus upon depletion of SphK2 by small interfering RNA against SphK2. This in turn reduced acetylation of H3-K9 and H4-K5. These effects were not observed upon depletion of SphK1. Moreover, exogenously added S1P reversed the effects on these histones (Hait *et al.*, 2009).

This finding is important as HDACs are implicated in the pathology of numerous human diseases including neurodegenerative diseases, cancer and cardiovascular diseases (Haberland *et al.*, 2009; Kazantsev and Thompson, 2008). HDACs have also been known to suppress the expression of genes related to memory formation and learning (Alarcon *et al.*, 2004; Levenson *et al.*, 2004). In this regard HDAC inhibitors have been implicated in enhancing memory formation (Vecsey *et al.*, 2007). A study by Guan et al., demonstrated that HDAC2 specifically inhibits H4-k5 acetylation in hippocampal neurons. This negatively regulates genes associated with memory formation and synaptic plasticity (Guan *et al.*, 2009). Another study confirmed the increase of HDAC2 in 5XFAD mouse model of AD (Gräff *et al.*, 2012).

Chapter 3: Materials and Methods

3.1 Animals

Male C57BL6 (10-12-months-old) mice were acclimated for 2 weeks prior to experimentation. SphK2 Knock-Out (KO) mice were developed as previously described (Mizugishi *et al.*, 2005), maintained at Australian BioResources, Mossvale, and transferred to the animal holding facility at the Neuroscience Research Australia (NeuRA, Sydney) for testing. The mice were C57BL6 genetic background. Mice were pair-housed in Polysulfone cages (1144B: Tecniplast, Rydalmere, Australia) with minimal environmental enrichment in the form of a red, transparent, polycarbonate igloo (certified polycarbonate mouse igloo: Bioserv, Frenchtown, USA) and tissues for nesting material (Kimwipes®, Kimberley-Clark, Australia). Mice were maintained on a 12/12 h light/dark cycle and had access to animal chow and water *ad libitu* except during the Cheeseboard experiment. Animals were 10-12 months old during the tests. Animal experiments were approved by the University of *New South Wales Animal Care* and *Ethics Committee* (ACEC) in accordance with the Australian Code of Practice for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes.

3.2 Chemicals

All chemicals used for biochemical analyses were procured from Sigma (Sigma Companies Group Pty Ltd, Castle Hill, Australia) and/or MERCK (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany).

3.3 Genotyping

Genotyping for *SphK2* alleles was done by PCR analysis as previously described (Mizugishi *et al.*, 2005). Genomic DNA after weaning by tail biopsy was used as the template (40 cycles of 94°C for 30 s, 55°C for 30 s, and 72°C for 2 min) with primers P3 (5'-GCACCCAGTGTGAATCGAGC-3'), P4 (5'-TCTGGAGACGGGCTGCTTT A-3'), and P5 (5'-CGCTATCAGGACATAGCGTT-3'). Expected product sizes for the wild-type and targeted alleles were 680 and 310 bp, respectively.

3.4 Behavioural Phenotyping

Mice were tested in a battery of behavioural (memory and cognitive) tasks at NeuRA. All experimental devices and objects were thoroughly cleaned with 70% ethanol in between experimental trials.

3.4.1 Elevated Plus Maze

Elevated Plus Maze (EPM) is a widely used test for anxiety, which represents a natural conflict between the animal's tendency to explore a novel environment and its preference to avoid a brightly lit, open area (Montgomery and Monkman, 1955). The apparatus used in the current study was a "+"-shaped maze which consisted of two enclosed arms and two open arms; all arms extending from a central platform. The maze was raised at a height of 70 cm from the ground (Fig. 3). Each animal was placed on the central platform facing one enclosed arm and allowed to explore the maze for 5 min. A camera was mounted above the EPM to record the frequencies and latencies of the four behaviours: stretch-attend, head-dipping, grooming and rearing as well as frequency of entries into, time spent and distance travelled in the open and enclosed arms using Any-MazeTM software. After each trial the maze was thoroughly cleaned with 70% ethanol.



Figure 3: Elevated Plus Maze Apparatus. The apparatus used in the current study was a ''+''-shaped maze which consisted of two enclosed arms and two open arms; all arms extending from a central platform. The maze was raised at a height of 70 cm from the ground. Each animal was placed on the central platform facing one enclosed arm and allowed to explore the maze for 5 min.

3.4.2 Cheeseboard Paradigm

In cheeseboard (CB) test, mice were trained over a stretch of days to find a food reward; spatial reference memory was indexed by a decreased latency to find the reward over days. The CB was a grey painted circular wooden board 1.1 m in diameter, raised 60 cm above the floor (Fig. 4). There were 32 bottle caps (3.1

cm diameter, 1.3 cm deep) evenly spaced out across the board (spaced in a radial pattern with 8 lines of 4 wells each radiating from the centre area; each well was 5 cm from the next well and the last well was 10 cm from the edge of the board). One of the caps contained the food reward (100 µl sweetened condensed milk; diluted 1:4 with water) and all of the remaining caps were lightly brushed with the milk. External cues were located around the CB. A camera was mounted above the CB to measure distance travelled and velocity as well as time spent in CB zones using Any-MazeTM software. Latency to find the target was measured using a stopwatch. During habituation (three days to the blank side of the CB) three 2 min trials were conducted each day with a 10 min Inter Trial Interval (ITI). Mice were food-restricted for 1 day prior to habituation and fed for 1-2 h per day during the testing. Mice were kept at 85–90% of their pre-test body weight throughout the experiment.

Spatial Reference Memory Acquisition: Mice were trained over 8 days (three trials per day with a 10 min ITI) to locate the food reward. The location of the target well was kept constant for each mouse between trials and across days; the target well location was different for each mouse and was counterbalanced across genotypes. If the target well and allowed to consume the food reward. A probe trial was conducted on day 9, where no wells were baited and mice were given 2 min to explore the board freely. On the probe trial, the board was divided into 8 zones corresponding to each line of 4 caps (the line of wells was in the centre of the zone), as well as a centre zone (40 cm diameter); the time spent in each zone (%time) was measured using Any-MazeTM. Data presented for 'zone time' excludes the time spent in the centre zone. During days 10-13, mice went through reversal training where the food reward was now located in the exact opposite direction on the board. A probe trial was conducted on day 14.



Figure 4: Cheeseboard Apparatus. The CB was a grey painted circular wooden board 1.1 m in diameter, raised 60 cm above the floor. There were 32 bottle caps (3.1 cm diameter, 1.3 cm deep) evenly spaced out across the board (spaced in a radial pattern with 8 lines of 4 wells each radiating from the centre area; each well was 5 cm from the next well and the last well was 10 cm from the edge of the board). External cues were located around the CB.

3.4.3 Fear Conditioning followed by Extinction

The present fear conditioning followed by extinction task was conducted over five days (24 h ITI). On day 1 (conditioning), animals were placed in the test chamber (Model H10-11R-TC: Coulbourn Instruments, Whitehall, USA) for a total of 7 min. After 120 s (pre-conditioned stimulus (CS)/baseline) an 80 dB conditioned stimulus (CS) was then presented for 30 s with a co-terminating 0.4mA 2 s foot shock (unconditioned stimulus (US)) twice with an inter-pairing interval of 120 s. The test concluded 120 s later. On day 2 (cue test) animals were placed in an altered context (i.e. grid floor replaced by a flat plastic floor, clear Perspex walls replaced with pink acrylic panels) for 9 min. After 120 s (pre-CS/baseline), the CS was presented continuously for 5 min. The test concluded after another 120 s without the CS. On day 3 (context test), the animals were returned to the apparatus for 7 min. Days 4 and 5 were the same as day 3. During days 3-5, no CS or US was provided. There was a 68 dB white noise background for all tests. The protocol is outlined in Fig. 5. Time spent *freezing* and distance travelled were measured using Any-MazeTM software (Any-MazeTM freezing parameters: freezing on: 3, freezing off: 13), where *freezing* was

defined as complete behavioural immobility except for natural respiratory motions (Stiedl and Spiess, 1997).





3.5 Mice Euthanasia

Mice were euthanized using carbon-dioxide and regionally dissected brain regions (hippocampus and cerebellum) were stored at -80°C until further use.

3.6 Lipid extraction, analysis and quantification by Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS/MS)

Lipids were extracted from 10–15 mg of frozen brain tissue, as described previously (Wong et al., 2012). Lipid extracts were reconstituted in 400 μ l of HPLC mobile phase (1 mM ammonium formate in 80% methanol/ 20% MilliQ water, containing 0.2% formic acid) and stored at –20°C until LC-MS/MS analysis. Quantification of extracted lipids was performed on a ThermoFisher Scientific Quantum Access triple quadrupole mass spectrometer equipped with an Accela UPLC and a 3 × 150 mm Agilent XDB-C8 column (5 μ m pore size), as described previously (Wong et al., 2012). Peaks were integrated using Xcalibur software (ThermoFisher Scientific). Analytical (HPLC) grade solvents were purchased from Merck. All lipid standards were purchased from Avanti Polar Lipids (Alabaster, Alabama).

3.7 Statistical Analysis

Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to analyse behavioural parameters for main effects of genotype. For CB probe trials single sample t-tests were used to assess whether the % time spent in the target zone was greater than chance (12.5 %). Differences were regarded as significant if p < 0.05. Data are shown as means \pm standard error of means (SEM). Analyses were conducted using GraphPad Prism software (version 7).

3.8 In silico analysis of functional association network of SphK2

To investigate functional association network of SphK2 with related proteins, its respective UniProtKB accession number was submitted in STRING 8.3 database (http://string-db.org/). The resulting algorithm was used to assess interactions of SphK2 with other enzymes.

Chapter 4: Results

4.1 Genotyping of WT and SphK2-/- mice

Of the 25 DNA samples, 11 were successfully genotyped as WTs at 680bp and 12 SphK2-/- at 310bp (Fig. 6).



Figure 6: Mouse-tail genotyping on 2% agarose gel. L= 10 kb ladder; Lane 1= negative control; Lanes 2-26=sample DNA. (N= 11 WTs and 12 SphK2-/-).

4.2 Anxiety related parameters tested in the Elevated Plus Maze

Table 1 presents the dataset for all the behaviours measured in the EPM. Among the main exploratory behaviours (grooming, rearing, head dipping and stretch-attend posture), frequency of grooming was significantly elevated by 2.5 fold in SphK2-/- compared to the WT mice (Fig. 7a). Other exploratory behaviours (rearing, head-dipping, stretch-attend posture and distance travelled on the EPM) were similar between the two genotypes. SphK2-/- mice also spent significantly increased time freezing compared to their WT littermates (Fig. 7b). Total number of entries in the centre of the EPM was significantly lower for the SphK2-/- mice compared to the WT mice but was not statistically significant. Time spent in closed arms trended higher in the SphK2-/- mice but it wasn't statistically different between the two genotypes.

| | WT (n=11) | SphK2-/- (n=12) | |
|------------------------------|---------------------|--------------------|---------|
| Time Spent (s) | $Mean \pm SEM$ | $Mean \pm SEM$ | p VALUE |
| Grooming | 18.60±3.83 | 47.41±8.99 | 0.0095 |
| Rearing | 11.55±3.06 | 8.76±1.67 | 0.423 |
| Head Dipping | 7.682 ± 0.7005 | 7.425 ± 0.764 | 0.81 |
| Stretch-attend | 34.91 ± 2.686 | 32.46 ± 3.654 | 0.6002 |
| Freezing | 47.85 ± 6.606 , | 91.59 ± 10.77 | 0.003 |
| Centre | 55.35 ± 4.811 | 43.46 ± 4.275 | 0.077 |
| Closed Arms | 198.2 ± 6.192 | 216.3 ± 7.209 | 0.0732 |
| Open Arms | 38.12 ± 4.628 | 33.54 ± 5.643 | 0.54 |
| Total Distance Travelled (m) | 18.92 ± 2.474 | 15.02 ± 2.773 | 0.31 |

| No. of entries | | | |
|----------------|-------------------|-------------------|--------|
| Centre | 38.09 ± 4.770 | 24.92 ± 3.959 | 0.0443 |
| Closed Arms | 26.18 ± 2.572 | 18.92 ± 2.690 | 0.0654 |
| Open Arms | 21.00 ± 3.861 | 13.50 ± 3.615 | 0.1705 |

Table 1: Dataset for the EPM Test Measures. All behaviors tested in the EPM are shown. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. *P* value is by two-tailed Student's t-test. Significantly altered behaviors are time spent grooming, time spent freezing and number of entries in the center with p < 0.05.



Figure 7(a-c): Significantly altered behaviors in the EPM. (a) Significant difference in time spent grooming between the two genotypes (as analyzed by Student's t test) is indicated by p value=0.0095. SphK2-/- mice spent more time grooming compared to the WT mice. (b) Significant difference in time spent freezing between the two genotypes (as analyzed by Student's t test) is indicated by p value=0.003. SphK2-/- mice spent more time freezing compared to the WT mice. (c) Significant difference in the number of entries in the Centre of the EPM between the two genotypes (as analyzed by Student's t test) is indicated by p value=0.0443. All mice were given 5 min to explore the maze. WT mice entered the center of the EPM more than the SphK2-/- mice. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

4.3 Spatial Learning and Memory in the Cheeseboard

In the CB paradigm, WT and SphK2-/- mice found the food reward faster as training proceeded (Fig. 8a). 2way ANOVA revealed a significant effect of 'day' for the latency to find the food reward (p<0.0001) whereas genotype had no effect (p=0.42).

After 8 days of training, a probe trial was conducted to test spatial reference memory. Although WT mice showed a greater preference for the exploration of the target zone than expected by chance (WT: 20.4% vs 12.5%, P = 0.041 in a paired t-test; SphK2: 16.3% vs 12.5%, P = 0.11>), but the difference was not significant between the two genotypes (p=0.42 by unpaired student's t test). Mice were then trained in reversal training where the food reward was now located on the precise opposite side of the CB (Fig. 8b). Again, latency to find the food reward was influenced by day and not genotype (p=0.0003; p=0.08 respectively, 2way ANOVA) (Fig. 8c). After 4 days of reversal training, a probe trial was conducted. Contrary to the original probe trial, SphK2-/- mice but not WT showed a greater preference for the target zone than expected by chance (WT: 17.8%, P = 0.080; SphK2-/-: 22.0%, P = 0.016). Moreover, there was no significant difference between the two strains (p=0.42 by student's t test) (Fig. 8d).



Figure 8 (a-d): Spatial learning and memory in the cheeseboard. (a) Latency (s) to find the food reward (averaged across 3 trials per day) during training. Time spent in the target zone according to chance (=20s) is marked with a dotted line; (b) Latency (s) to find the food reward (averaged across 3 trials per day) during reversal training. Time spent in the target zone according to chance (=20s) is marked with a dotted line; (c) Percentage time (%) spent in the target zone of the CB (i.e. in close proximity to the well containing food reward) during the 2 min probe trial; (d) Percentage time (%) spent in the target zone of the CB during the 2 min reversal probe trial. Time spent in the target zone according to chance (=12.5%) is marked with a dotted line. Data presented for zone time does not include the time spent in the centre zone. Data for SphK2-/- and WT mice are shown as mean \pm SEM.

4.4 Fear Conditioning followed by Extinction

WT and SphK2-/- mice responded to the electric foot-shock (FS) delivered during Conditioning (Fig. 9). Both genotypes displayed elevated freezing during the first 2 min on Context Day (re-exposure to the shock cage; day 3) compared with the first 2 min of pre-conditioning (Day 1) indicating that all mice had learnt the association

between the context and the FS. Upon repeated re-exposure to the context on days 4-5 (fear extinction trials with 24 h interval) without receiving the foot-shock again, SphK2-/- mice showed significantly increased freezing compared to the WT mice. There was no evidence of extinction of the fear memory (Fig. 9). However, SphK2-/- mice showed elevated freezing compared to the WT mice (as in the EPM).



Figure 9: Fear Conditioning- Context Test. % Time spent freezing during fear conditioning (day 1), context (day 3) and extinction (days 4 and 5) trials. Both genotypes learnt the association between the CS and FS (****, p < 0.0001 compared to context test day). There is no evidence of extinction of the fear memory however difference between the two genotypes is significant (#, p < 0.05 SphK2-/- versus WT; ##, p < 0.01 SphK2-/- versus WT). P values are analyzed by 2way ANOVA. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

In the cue test (Day 2), there was a significant difference in percentage time freezing between the two genotypes before the cue was presented (p=0.01 by 2way ANOVA) whereas there was no significant difference during and after the cue (Fig. 10).



Figure 10: Fear Response to the Cue. Time spent freezing (%) in the cue test. Mice were exposed to the auditory cue in a different contextual environment. Graph shows percentage of total time spent freezing before, during, and after the auditory cue P value analysed by 2way ANOVA revealed significant difference between genotypes before the cue (#, p=0.01). Data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

4.5 Quantification of Brain Sphingolipids

LC-MS/MS was used to analyse changes to sphingosine, dihydrosphingosine, S1P and dihydro-S1P. Tissue samples were derived from hippocampus and cerebellum of the WT and SphK2-/- mice. S1P levels in the hippocampus and cerebellum of SphK2-/- mice were reduced by 86% and 90%, respectively, compared to the WT mice (P < 0.0001 and P = 0.0037 respectively) (Fig. 11a). The closely related lipid dihydro-S1P was reduced by 84% (P = 0.0212) in hippocampus and 91% (P = 0.0008) in cerebellum (Fig. 11b). Levels of the substrates for SphK2, sphingosine and dihydrosphingosine, increased 1.6-fold (P = 0.0022) and 2.9-fold (P = 0.0005), respectively, in the hippocampus (Fig. 11c). There was no statistically significant increase in sphingosine or dihydrosphingosine in the cerebellum, although mean dihydrosphingosine levels increased 1.5-fold (Fig. 11d).



Figure 11: Brain levels of S1P and dihydro-S1P remarkably low in SphK2-/mice. (a) S1P and (b) dihydro-S1P content is heavily reduced in hippocampus and cerebellum of SphK2-/- mice compared to WT mice; (c) Levels of sphingosine and (d) dihydrosphingosine increased in hippocampus of SphK2-/- mice compared to WT mice with no significant change in the cerebellum. Data are presented as mean ± SEM.

4.6 Functional Association Network of SphK2

In silico analysis of SphK2 revealed its interaction with several other enzymes involved in sphingolipid metabolism. A total of 10 interacting partners of SphK2 were revealed. Strongest interactions of SphK2 were found with S1P phosphatase 1 and S1P phosphatase 2 (SGPP1 and SGPP2) and S1P lyase (SGPL1). Ceramide synthases were also revealed as interacting protein partners of SphK2.



Figure 12: Functional association network of identified proteins. High confidence protein-protein interaction network of identified proteins derived from the STRING database (http://string-db.org). Each protein is represented as a node with edged interactions.

Chapter 5: Discussion

The present study has conducted several behavioral tests to assess learning and memory patterns of SphK2-/- mice. In the fear-conditioning test, increased time spent freezing on day 3, when the mice were placed back into the shock cage, indicated that both strains had learned the association between the context and the FS. On subsequent days, freezing time was reduced, suggestive of fear extinction, but this was only statistically significant for SphK2-/- mice on the third day as compared to the first day of re-exposure to the context. SphK2-/- mice spent more time freezing during pre-conditioning, on context test day, and on both subsequent days testing for fear extinction. The association between the aural cue and freezing time, tested on day 2, was less robust and statistically significant only in the WT mice. The difference between the genotypes likely resulted from the increased time that SphK2-/- mice spent freezing prior to the cue, which supports the conclusion of a generalized anxiety deficit in SphK2-/- when exposed to a new environment. In contrast to previously published results, our findings are not indicative of a specific deficit in fear extinction in SphK2-/- mice (Hait *et al.*, 2014).

Mice were extensively analyzed for anxiety-related parameters in the EPM, which is a widely used test of anxiety (Rodgers and Dalvi, 1997). Further supporting the conclusion of a general anxiety phenotype, SphK2-/- mice spent significantly more time freezing in the EPM. SphK2-/- mice made significantly less entries into the center of the maze compared to the WT mice. Moreover, they made fewer entries and spent less time in the open arms compared to the WT mice, however, this difference was not statistically significant. SphK2-/- mice spent significantly more time grooming in the maze, which is why they made fewer entries into the center and open arms. These behaviors support our conclusion of a generalized anxiety phenotype displayed by the SphK2-/- mice compared to the WT mice consistent with previously described results (Rodgers and Dalvi, 1997).

The CB paradigm was employed as a less stressful dry-land alternative to the Morris Water Maze (MWM) test (Llano Lopez *et al.*, 2010). A previous study used MWM and reported a spatial memory deficit in SphK2-/- mice (Hait *et al.*, 2014). Test animals in our study exhibited no impairments in the spatial reference memory. Our contradicting results could potentially be due to the general anxiety that SphK2-/- mice display when placed in a novel environment. Further studies that utilize

behavioral tests unraveling S1P's role in memory and learning are required.

In light of the behavioral phenotyping results, functional association network analysis of SphK2 was performed to better comprehend the impact of interacting protein partners on SphK2. This in-silico analysis revealed associations of SphK2 with ceramide synthases, sphingosine lyase and phosphatases. Sphingolipid signaling molecules; S1P and ceramide form an intricately regulated 'rheostat' where these substrates are interconvertible via action of their specific enzymes (Cuvillier et al., 1996). This functional rheostat is altered in disease states. Studies have reported altered sphingolipid metabolism in neurodegenerative diseases including but not limited to AD. Role of sphingolipids in major anxiety related disorders and depression has been investigated by manipulating the relevant enzymes. Anxiety related disorders and depression have been associated with increased levels of ceramides in the brain. One study used an animal model of anxiety and reported association of anxiety with increased levels of galactosylceramide concentrations in the amygdala, a major region of brain implicated in anxiety disorders (Ono et al., 2008). In another study, pharmacological intervention decreased levels of ceramides in the hippocampus of mouse models of anxiety further validating the role of increased ceramides in anxiety (Gulbins et al., 2013).

The remarkably low S1P levels in the brains of SphK2-/- mice observed in the present study indicate that SphK2 and not SphK1 is the dominant isoform in the brain that synthesizes S1P. This is consistent with previous findings that reported significantly reduced levels of S1P in the spinal cord of mice deficient in SphK2 (Canlas *et al.*, 2015). Accumulation of sphingosine and dihydrosphingosine in the hippocampus of SphK2-/- indicate substrate accumulation in the absence of SphK2. In the cerebellum, sphingosine is more efficiently reutilized for the synthesis of more complex sphingolipids (termed the "salvage" or sphingolipid recycling pathway) and therefore does not accumulate (van Echten-Deckert and Herget, 2006). S1P has been shown to stimulate glutamate release from CA3 hippocampal neurons via S1P₃ signaling thereby inducing long term potentiation (LTP) (Kanno *et al.*, 2010). In a previously reported study, LTP was significantly altered in SphK1-/- mice suggesting that SphK1 did not compensate hippocampal S1P content in our mice models. Higher SphK2 activity compared to SphK1 in mouse and human brain extracts were also

reported previously that supports the findings of the present study (Blondeau *et al.,* 2007; Couttas *et al.,* 2014).

Cumulatively, these studies have strengthened our conclusion of a generalized anxiety phenotype in the SphK2-/- cohort and warranted further studies imploring the involvement of S1P in AD pathology.

Chapter 6: Conclusion

In the present study, SphK2-/- mice spent significantly more time freezing in the EPM and fear conditioning experiments, supporting the conclusion of a general anxiety phenotype. SphK2-/- mice did not exhibit any deficit in spatial reference memory in the cheeseboard paradigm. S1P levels in the brains of SphK2-/- mice were markedly lower than their WT littermates, indicating that SphK2, and not SphK1, is the dominant source of S1P synthesis in the brain. We infer from functional association network analysis of SphK2 that knocking out SphK2 disturbed the functional rheostat between S1P and ceramides and made the SphK2-/- mice more prone to anxiety.

References

- Abad-Rodriguez, J., Ledesma, M. D., Craessaerts, K., Perga, S., Medina, M., Delacourte, A., Dingwall, C., De Strooper, B. and Dotti, C. G. (2004).
 Neuronal membrane cholesterol loss enhances amyloid peptide generation. J. Cell Biol., 167: 953–960.
- Adibhatla, R. M. and Hatcher, J. F. (2007). Role of Lipids in Brain Injury and Diseases. Future Lipidol., 2(4): 403–422.
- Agnew, S. K. and Morris, R. G. (1998). The heterogeneity of anosognosia for memory impairment in Alzheimer's disease: a review of the literature and a proposed model. Aging Ment. Health., 2(1):7–19.
- Alarcón, J. M., Malleret, G., Touzani, K., Vronskaya, S., Ishii, S., Kandel, E. R. and Barco, A. (2004). Chromatin acetylation, memory, and LTP are impaired in CBP+/– mice: a model for the cognitive deficit in Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome and its amelioration. Neuron, 42(6): 947-959.
- Albert, M.S., DeKosky, S.T., Dickson, D., Dubois, B., Feldman, H.H., Fox, N.C., Gamst, A., Holtzman, D.M., Jagust, W.J., Petersen, R.C. and Snyder, P.J. (2011). The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's & dementia, 7(3): 270-279.
- Alzheimer, A. (1911). Über eigenartige Krankheitsfälle des späteren Alters. Zeitschrift für die gesamte Neurologie und Psychiatrie, 4: 356–385.
- Alzheimer's Association. (2016). 2016 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimer's and Dementia, 12(4): 459-509.
- Anastasiadou, S., and Knöll, B. (2016). The multiple sclerosis drug fingolimod (FTY720) stimulates neuronal gene expression, axonal growth and regeneration. *Exp. Neurol.*, 279: 243-260.
- Arboleda, G., Huang, T. J., Waters, C., Verkhratsky, A., Fernyhough, P., and Gibson, R. M. (2007). Insulin-like growth factor-1-dependent maintenance of neuronal metabolism through the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase–Akt pathway is inhibited by C2-ceramide in CAD cells. Eur. J. Neurosci., 25(10): 3030-3038.
- Asle-Rousta, M., Kolahdooz, Z., Oryan, S., Ahmadiani, A. and Dargahi, L. (2013). FTY720 (fingolimod) attenuates beta-amyloid peptide (Abeta42)-induced

impairment of spatial learning and memory in rats. J Mol Neurosci., 50: 524–532.

- Atri, A. and Colding-Jorgensen, E. (2014). A 5HT-6 antagonist in advanced development for the treatment of mild-moderate Alzheimer's disease. J Prevent Alzheimer Dis., 3: 220.
- Bandaru, V. V., McArthur, J. C., Sacktor, N., Cutler, R. G., Knapp, E. L., Mattson, M. P. and Haughey, N. J. (2007). Associative and predictive biomarkers of dementia in HIV-1–infected patients. Neurol., 68(18): 1481-1487.
- Bartke, N. and Hannun, Y. A. (2009). Bioactive sphingolipids: metabolism and function. J. Lipid Res., 50: S91-S96.
- Bertram, L. and Tanzi, R. E. (2008). Thirty years of Alzheimer's disease genetics: the implications of systematic meta-analyses. Nature Rev. Neurosci., 9: 768–778.
- Blondeau, N., Lai, Y., Tyndall, S., Popolo, M., Topalkara, K., Pru, J. K., Zhang, L., Kim, H., Liao, J. K., Ding, K. and Waeber, C. (2007). Distribution of sphingosine kinase activity and mRNA in rodent brain. J Neurochem., 103: 509-517.
- Braak, H. and Braak E. (1988). Evolution of neuronal changes in the course of Alzheimer's disease. J. Neural Trans. Suppl., 53:127–140.
- Braak, H., Alafuzoff, I., Arzberger, T., Kretzschmar, H. and Del T. K. (2006). Staging of Alzheimer disease-associated neurofibrillary pathology using paraffin sections and immunocytochemistry. Acta Neuropathologica., 112: 389-404.
- Braak, H., Braak, E., Ohm, T. and Bohl, J. (1989). Alzheimer's disease: mismatch between amyloid plaques and neuritic plaques. Neurosci Lett., 103: 24-28.
- Brindley, D. N. (2004). Lipid phosphate phosphatases and related proteins: Signaling functions in development, cell division, and cancer. J Cell Biochem., 92: 900-912.
- Brinkmann, V., Billich, A., Baumruker, T., Heining, P., Schmouder, R., Francis, G., Aradhye, S. and Burtin, P. (2010). Fingolimod (FTY720): discovery and development of an oral drug to treat multiple sclerosis. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov., 9: 883–897.
- Brinkmann, V., Davis, M. D., Heise, C. E., Albert, R., Cottens, S., Hof, R., Bruns, C., Prieschl, E., Baumruker, T., Hiestand, P., Foster, C. A., Zollinger, M. and Lynch, K. R. (2002). The immune modulator FTY720 targets sphingosine 1-

phosphate receptors. J Biol Chem., 277: 21453-21457.

- Brookmeyer, R., Johnson, E., Ziegler-Graham, K. and Arrighi, H. M. (2007). Forecasting the global burden of Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's and Dementia. 3:186-191.
- Brouwers, N., Sleegers, K. and Van Broeckhoven, C. (2008). Molecular genetics of Alzheimer's disease: an update. Ann. Med., 40: 562-583.
- Butters, N., Salmon, D. P., Cullum, C. M., Cairns, P., Tröster, A.I., Jacobs, D., Moss, M. and Cermak, L.S. (1988). Differentiation of amnestic and demented patients with the Wechsler Memory Scale. Revised. Clin. Neuropsych., 2:133– 144.
- Canlas, J., Holt, P., Carroll, A., Rix, S., Ryan, P., Davies, L., Matusica, D., Pitson, S.M., Jessup, C.F., Gibbins, I.L. and Haberberger, R.V. (2015). Sphingosine kinase 2-deficiency mediated changes in spinal pain processing. Front. Mol Neurosci., 8: 29.
- Ceccom, J., Loukh, N., Lauwers-Cances, V., Touriol, C., Nicaise, Y., Gentil, C., Uro-Coste, E., Pitson, S., Maurage, C.A., Duyckaerts, C. and Cuvillier, O. (2014).
 Reduced sphingosine kinase-1 and enhanced sphingosine 1-phosphate lyase expression demonstrate deregulated sphingosine 1-phosphate signaling in Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol Commun., 2: 1.
- Choi, J. W., and Chun, J. (2013). Lysophospholipids and their receptors in the central nervous system. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta., 1831(1): 20–32.
- Choi, J.W., Gardell, S.E., Herr, D.R., Rivera, R., Lee, C.W., Noguchi, K., Teo, S.T., Yung, Y.C., Lu, M., Kennedy, G. and Chun, J., 2011. FTY720 (fingolimod) efficacy in an animal model of multiple sclerosis requires astrocyte sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor 1 (S1P1) modulation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 108(2): 751-756.
- Claxton, A., Baker, L.D., Hanson, A., Trittschuh, E.H., Cholerton, B., Morgan, A., Callaghan, M., Arbuckle, M., Behl, C. and Craft, S., 2015. Long-acting intranasal insulin detemir improves cognition for adults with mild cognitive impairment or early-stage Alzheimer's disease dementia. J Alzheimers Dis., 44(3): 897-906.
- Clayton, A. L., Hazzalin, C. A., and Mahadevan, L. C. (2006). Enhanced histone acetylation and transcription: a dynamic perspective. Mol cell., 23(3): 289-

296.

- Corder, E.H., Saunders, A.M., Strittmatter, W.J., Schmechel, D.E., Gaskell, P.C., Small, G., Roses, A.D., Haines, J.L. and Pericak-Vance, M.A. (1993). Gene dose of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late onset families. Sci., 261: 921-923.
- Couttas, T.A., Kain, N., Daniels, B., Lim, X.Y., Shepherd, C., Kril, J., Pickford, R., Li, H., Garner, B. and Don, A.S., 2014. Loss of the neuroprotective factor Sphingosine 1-phosphate early in Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis. Acta Neuropathol Commun 2: 1.
- Coyle JT, Price DL and DeLong MR (1983). Alzheimer's disease: a disorder of cortical cholinergic innervation. *Sci.*, 219: 1184-1190.
- Cutler, R. G., Kelly, J., Storie, K., Pedersen, W. A., Tammara, A., Hatanpaa, K., Troncoso, J.C. and Mattson, M. P. (2004). Involvement of oxidative stressinduced abnormalities in ceramide and cholesterol metabolism in brain aging and Alzheimer's disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 101(7): 2070-2075.
- Cuvillier, O., Pirianov, G., Kleuser, B., Vanek, P.G., Coso, O.A., Gutkind, S., Spiegel, S. (1996). Suppression of ceramide-mediated programmed cell death by sphingosine- 1-phosphate. Nat., 381: 800–803.
- DeKosky, S. T. and Scheff, S. W. (1990). Synapse loss in frontal cortex biopsies in Alzheimer's disease: correlation with cognitive severity. Ann. Neurol., 27: 457-464.
- Deogracias, R., Yazdani, M., Dekkers, M. P. J., Guy, J., Ionescu, M. C. S., Vogt, K. E. and Barde, Y.A. (2012). Fingolimod, a sphingosine-1 phosphate receptor modulator, increases BDNF levels and improves symptoms of a mouse model of Rett syndrome. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 109(35): 14230–14235.
- Dev, K. K., Mullershausen, F., Mattes, H., Kuhn, R. R., Bilbe, G., Hoyer, D., and Mir, A. (2008). Brain sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors: implication for FTY720 in the treatment of multiple sclerosis. Pharmacology & therapeutics, 117(1):77-93.
- Diedrich, J., Wietgrefe, S., Zupancic, M., Staskus, K., Retzel, E., Haase, A.T. and Race, R. (1987). The molecular pathogenesis of astrogliosis in scrapie and Alzheimer's disease. Microb Pathog., 2(6): 435-442.
- Ding, G., Sonoda, H., Yu, H., Kajimoto, T., Goparaju, S.K., Jahangeer, S., Okada, T.

and Nakamura, S.I. (2007). Protein kinase D-mediated phosphorylation and nuclear export of sphingosine kinase 2. J. Biol. Chem., 282(37): 27493-27502.

- Doi, Y., Takeuchi, H., Horiuchi, H., Hanyu, T., Kawanokuchi, J., Jin, S., Parajuli, B.,
 Sonobe, Y., Mizuno, T. and Suzumura, A. (2013). Fingolimod Phosphate
 Attenuates Oligomeric Amyloid β–Induced Neurotoxicity via Increased Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factor Expression in Neurons. PLoS One, 8(4): 61988.
- Don, A. S., Lim, X. Y. and Couttas, T. A. (2014). Re-configuration of sphingolipid metabolism by oncogenic transformation. Biomol., 4: 315-353.
- Doody, R.S., Thomas, R.G., Farlow, M., Iwatsubo, T., Vellas, B., Joffe, S., Kieburtz, K., Raman, R., Sun, X., Aisen, P.S. and Siemers, E. (2014). Phase 3 trials of solanezumab for mild-to-moderate Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med., 370: 311–21.
- Edsall, L. C. and Spiegel, S. (1999). Enzymatic measurement of sphingosine 1phosphate. Anal. Biochem., 272(1): 80-86.
- Efstathopoulos, P., Kourgiantaki, A., Karali, K., Sidiropoulou, K., Margioris, A. N., Gravanis, A. and Charalampopoulos, I. (2015). Fingolimod induces neurogenesis in adult mouse hippocampus and improves contextual fear memory. Transl Psychiatry., 5: 685.
- Ehehalt, R., Keller, P., Haass, C., Thiele, C. and Simons, K. (2003). Amyloidogenic processing of the Alzheimer β-amyloid precursor protein depends on lipid rafts. J. Cell Biol., 160(1): 113-123.
- Filippov, V., Song, M.A., Zhang, K., Vinters, H.V., Tung, S., Kirsch, W.M., Yang, J. and Duerksen-Hughes, P.J. (2012). Increased ceramide in brains with Alzheimer's and other neurodegenerative diseases. J. Alzheimers. Dis., 29(3): 537-547.
- Foley, P. (2010). Lipids in Alzheimer's disease: A century-old story. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids 1801:750-753.
- Forette, F., and Boller, F. (1991). Hypertension and the risk of dementia in the elderly. Am. J. Med., 90(3): 14-19.
- Foster, C. A., Howard, L.M., Schweitzer, A., Persohn, E., Hiestand, P.C., Balatoni,B., Reuschel, R., Beerli, C., Schwartz, M. and Billich, A. (2007). Brain penetration of the oral immunomodulatory drug FTY720 and its

phosphorylation in the central nervous system during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: Consequences for mode of action in multiple sclerosis. J Pharmacol Exp Ther., 323:469–475.

- Francis, P. T., Palmer, A. M., Snape, M., and Wilcock, G. K. (1999). The cholinergic hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: a review of progress. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry. 66(2): 137-147.
- Fukuda, Y., Kihara, A., and Igarashi, Y. (2003). Distribution of sphingosine kinase activity in mouse tissues: contribution of SPHK1. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 309(1), 155-160.
- Glenner, G. G. (2012). Reprint of "Alzheimer's disease: Initial report of the purification and characterization of a novel cerebrovascular amyloid protein". Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 425: 534-539.
- Gräff, J., Rei, D., Guan, J.S., Wang, W.Y., Seo, J., Hennig, K.M., Nieland, T.J., Fass, D.M., Kao, P.F., Kahn, M. and Su, S.C., 2012. An epigenetic blockade of cognitive functions in the neurodegenerating brain. Nat., 483(7388): 222-226.
- Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., Tung, Y-C., Quinlan, M., Wisniewski, H. M and Binder, L. I. (1986). Abnormal phosphorylation of the microtubule-associated protein tau (tau) in Alzheimer cytoskeletal pathology. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 83: 4913-4917.
- Gulbins, E., M. Palmada, M. Reichel, A. Luth, C. Bohmer, D. Amato, C. P. Muller,
 C. H. Tischbirek, T. W. Groemer, G. Tabatabai, K. A. Becker, P. Tripal, S.
 Staedtler, T. F. Ackermann, J. van Brederode, C. Alzheimer, M. Weller, U. E.
 Lang, B. Kleuser, H. Grassme and J. Kornhuber (2013). Acid
 sphingomyelinase-ceramide system mediates effects of antidepressant drugs.
 Nat. Med., 19(7): 934-938.
- Haberland, M., Montgomery, R.L. and Olson, E.N. (2009). The many roles of histone deacetylases in development and physiology: implications for disease and therapy. Nat. Rev. Genet. 10: 32–42.
- Hait, N.C., Allegood, J., Maceyka, M., Strub, G.M., Harikumar, K.B., Singh, S.K.,
 Luo, C., Marmorstein, R., Kordula, T., Milstien, S. and Spiegel, S. (2009).
 Regulation of histone acetylation in the nucleus by sphingosine-1-phosphate.
 Sci., 325(5945): 1254-1257.

Hait, N.C., Wise, L.E., Allegood, J.C., O'Brien, M., Avni, D., Reeves, T.M., Knapp,

P.E., Lu, J., Luo, C., Miles, M.F. and Milstien, S. (2014). Active, phosphorylated fingolimod inhibits histone deacetylases and facilitates fear extinction memory. Nat. neurosci., 17(7): 971-980.

- Han, X., Cheng, H., Fryer, J. D., Fagan, A. M., & Holtzman, D. M. (2003). Novel Role for Apolipoprotein E in the Central Nervous System modulation of sulfatide content. J. Biol. Chem., 278(10): 8043-8051.
- Hannun, Y. A, and Obeid, L. M. (1995). Ceramide: an intracellular signal for apoptosis. Trends Biochem Sci., 20: 73–77.
- Hannun, Y. A. and Obeid, L. M. (2008). Principles of bioactive lipid signalling: Lessons from sphingolipids. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol., 9:139-150.
- Hartmann, T., Kuchenbecker, J. and Grimm, M. O. (2007). Alzheimer's disease: the lipid connection. J. Neurochem., 103, 159–170.
- Hattori, C., Asai, M., Onishi, H., Sasagawa, N., Hashimoto, Y., Saido, T.C., Maruyama, K., Mizutani, S. and Ishiura, S. (2006). BACE1 interacts with lipid raft proteins. J. Neurosci. Res. 84: 912–917.
- He, X., Huang, Y., Li, B., Gong, C-X. and Schuchman, E. H. (2010). Deregulation of sphingolipid metabolism in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol. Aging., 31: 398-408.
- Hoffmann, F. S., Hofereiter, J., Rübsamen, H., Melms, J., Schwarz, S., Faber, H., Weber, P., Putz, B., Loleit, V., Weber, F., Hohlfeld, R., Meinl, E. and Krumbholz, M. (2015). Fingolimod induces neuroprotective factors in human astrocytes. J. Neuroinflam., 12(1): 1.
- Holmes, A., Wrenn, C. C., Harris, A. P., Thayer, K. E., & Crawley, J. N. (2002). Behavioral profiles of inbred strains on novel olfactory, spatial and emotional tests for reference memory in mice. Genes Brain Behav., 1(1): 55-69.
- Holtzman, D.M., Bales, K.R., Tenkova, T., Fagan, A.M., Parsadanian, M., Sartorius, L.J., Mackey, B., Olney, J., McKeel, D., Wozniak, D. and Paul, S.M. (2000).
 Apolipoprotein E isoform-dependent amyloid deposition and neuritic degeneration in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 97: 2892-2897.
- Huang, Y., Tanimukai, H., Liu, F., Iqbal, K., Grundke-Iqbal, I. and Gong, C. X. (2004). Elevation of the level and activity of acid ceramidase in Alzheimer's disease brain. Eur. J. Neurosci., 20: 3489-3497.

- J. S. Guan, S. J. Haggarty, E. Giacometti, J. H. Dannenberg, N. Joseph, J. Gao, T. J. Nieland, Y. Zhou, X. Wang, R. Mazitschek, J. E. Bradner, R. A. DePinho, R. Jaenisch, L. H. (2009). HDAC2 negatively regulates memory formation and synaptic plasticity. Nat., 459: 55–60.
- Jana, A. and Pahan, K. (2010). Fibrillar amyloid-β-activated human astroglia kill primary human neurons via neutral sphingomyelinase: implications for Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurosci, 30(38): 12676-12689.
- Kajimoto, T., Okada, T., Yu, H., Goparaju, S. K., Jahangeer, S. andNakamura, S. (2007). Involvement of sphingosine-1-phosphate in glutamate secretion in hippocampal neurons. Mol. Cell. Biol., 27: 3429–3440.
- Kalaria, R.N., Maestre, G.E., Arizaga, R., Friedland, R.P., Galasko, D., Hall, K., Luchsinger, J.A., Ogunniyi, A., Perry, E.K., Potocnik, F. and Prince, M. (2008). Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia in developing countries: prevalence, management, and risk factors. The Lancet Neurology, 7(9): 812-826.
- Kalbe, E., Salmon, E., Perani, D., Holthoff, V., Sorbi, S., Elsner, A. (2005). Anosognosia in very mild Alzheimer's disease but not in mild cognitive impairment. Dem. Geriatr. Cogn. Disord., 19: 349–356.
- Kanno, T., Nishizaki, T., Proia, R.L., Kajimoto, T., Jahangeer, S., Okada, T. and Nakamura, S. (2010). Regulation of synaptic strength by sphingosine 1phosphate in the hippocampus. Neurosci., 171(4): 973-980.
- Karran, E., Mercken, M., and De Strooper, B. (2011). The amyloid cascade hypothesis for Alzheimer's disease: an appraisal for the development of therapeutics. Nat. Rev., 10(9): 698-712.
- Katsel, P., Li, C. and Haroutunian, V. (2007). Gene expression alterations in the sphingolipid metabolism pathways during progression of dementia and Alzheimer's disease: a shift toward ceramide accumulation at the earliest recognizable stages of Alzheimer's disease? Neurochem. Res., 32:845-856.
- Kazantsev, A. G. and Thompson, L. M. (2008). Therapeutic application of histone deacetylase inhibitors for central nervous system disorders. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 7: 854–868.
- Kimura, A., Ohmori, T., Kashiwakura, Y., Ohkawa, R., Madoiwa, S., Mimuro, J., Shimazaki, K., Hoshino, Y., Yatomi, Y. and Sakata, Y. (2008). Antagonism of

sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor-2 enhances migration of neural progenitor cells toward an area of brain infarction. Stroke, 39(12): 3411-3417.

- Kohama, T., Olivera, A., Edsall, L., Nagiec, M. M., Dickson, R. and Spiegel, S. (1998). Molecular cloning and functional characterization of murine sphingosine kinase. J Biol Chem., 273:23722-23728.
- Lane, R. M. and Farlow, M. R. (2005). Lipid homeostasis and apolipoprotein E in the development and progression of Alzheimer's disease. J. Lipid Res., 46(5): 949-968.
- Levenson, J.M., O'Riordan, K.J., Brown, K.D., Trinh, M.A., Molfese, D.L. and Sweatt, J.D. (2004). Regulation of histone acetylation during memory formation in the hippocampus. J. Biol. Chem., 279(39): 40545-40559.
- Liu, H., Sugiura, M., Nava, V. E., Edsall, L. C., Kono, K., Poulton, S., Milstien, S., Kohama, T. and Spiegel, S. (2000). Molecular cloning and functional characterization of a novel mammalian sphingosine kinase type 2 isoform. J. Biol. Chem., 275:19513-19520.
- Liu, X., Zhang, Q-H. and Yi, G-H. (2012). Regulation of metabolism and transport of sphingosine-1-phosphate in mammalian cells. Mol. Cell. Biochem., 363:21-33.
- Llano Lopez, L., Hauser, J., Feldon, J., Gargiulo, P. A., Yee, B. K. (2010). Evaluating spatial memory function in mice: a within-subjects comparison between the water maze test and its adaptation to dry land. Behav Brain Res., 209:85-92.
- Lyketsos, C. G, Targum, S. D., Pendergrass, J. C. and Lozano, A. M. (2012).Deep brain stimulation: a novel strategy for treating Alzheimer's disease. Innov Clin Neurosci., 9: 10–17.
- Lyketsos, C. G., Steinberg, M., Tschanz, J. T., Norton, M.C., Steffens, D. C., Breitner, J. C. S. (2000). Mental and behavioral disturbances in dementia: findings from the Cache County Study on Memory in Aging. Am. J. Psych., 157:708–714.
- Maccioni, R. B., Farías, G., Morales, I. and Navarrete, L. (2010). The revitalized tau hypothesis on Alzheimer's disease. Arch. Med. Res., 41(3): 226-231.
- Maceyka, M., Harikumar, K. B., Milstien, S. and Spiegel S. (2012). Sphingosine-1phosphate signaling and its role in disease. Trends. Cell Biol., 22:50-60.
- Malaplate-Armand, C., Florent-Bechard, S., Youssef, I., Koziel, V., Sponne, I.,

Kriem, B., Leininger-Muller, B., Olivier, J. L., Oster, T. and Pillot, T. (2006). Soluble oligomers of amyloid-beta peptide induce neuronal apoptosis by activating a cPLA2-dependent sphingomyelinase-ceramide pathway. Neurobiol. Dis., 23:178–189.

- Mandala, S., Hajdu, R., Bergstrom, J., Quackenbush, E., Xie, J., Milligan, J., Thornton, R., Shei, G. J., Card, D., Keohane, C., Rosenbach, M., Hale, J., Lynch, C. L., Rupprecht, K., Parsons, W. and Rosen, H. (2002). Alteration of lymphocyte trafficking by sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor agonists. Sci., 296: 346–349.
- McNally, G. P. and Westbrook, R. F. (2006). Predicting danger: the nature, consequences, and neural mechanisms of predictive fear learning. Learn Mem., 13:245-53.
- Merrill Jr, A. H. (2011). Sphingolipid and glycosphingolipid metabolic pathways in the era of sphingolipidomics. *Chemical reviews*, *111*(10), 6387-6422.
- Mielke, M.M., Haughey, N.J., Bandaru, V.V., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., Andreasson, U., Johnson, S.C., Gleason, C.E., Blazel, H.M., Puglielli, L. and Sager, M.A. (2014). Cerebrospinal fluid sphingolipids, β-amyloid, and tau in adults at risk for Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiology of aging, 35(11): 2486-2494.
- Milstien, S., Gude, D. and Spiegel, S. (2007) Sphingosine 1-phosphate in neural signalling and function. Acta Pædiatrica 96:40-43.
- Mizugishi, K., Yamashita, T., Olivera, A., Miller, G. F., Spiegel, S., and Proia, R. L. (2005). Essential Role for Sphingosine Kinases in Neural and Vascular Development. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 25(24): 11113–11121.
- Montgomery, K.C. and Monkman, J.A. (1955). The relation between fear and exploratory behavior. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol., 48,132–136.
- Muhle, C., Reichel, M., Gulbins, E. and Kornhuber, J. (2013). Sphingolipids in psychiatric disorders and pain syndromes. Handb Exp Pharmacol., 431–456.
- Novgorodov, A. S., El-Alwani, M., Bielawski, J., Obeid, L. M. and Gudz, T. I. (2007). Activation of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor S1P5 inhibits oligodendrocyte progenitor migration. The FASEB Journal., 21:1503-1514.
- Nuzzo, L., Orlando, R., Tognoli, C., Di Pietro, P., Bertini, G., Miele, J., Bucci, D., Motolese, M., Scaccianoce, S., Caruso, A. and Mauro, G. (2015).

Antidepressant activity of fingolimod in mice. Pharmacol Res Perspect., 3: 3.

- O'Sullivan, C., and Dev, K. K. (2013). The structure and function of the S1P1 receptor. T. Pharmacol. Sci., 34(7): 401-412.
- Olivera, A., Kohama, T., Edsall, L., Nava, V., Cuvillier, O., Poulton, S., & Spiegel, S. (1999). Sphingosine Kinase Expression Increases Intracellular Sphingosine-1-Phosphate and Promotes Cell Growth and Survival. J. Cell. Biol., 147(3): 545–558.
- Ono, M., T. Kikusui, N. Sasaki, M. Ichikawa, Y. Mori and K. Murakami-Murofushi (2008). Early weaning induces anxiety and precocious myelination in the anterior part of the basolateral amygdala of male Balb/c mice. Neurosci., 156(4): 1103-1110.
- Orfei, M.D., Blundo, C., Celia, E., Casini, A.R., Caltagirone, C., Spalletta, G. and Varsi, A.E. (2010). Anosognosia in mild cognitive impairment and mild Alzheimer's disease: frequency and neuropsychological correlates. Am. J. Ger. Psych., 18(12):1133–1140.
- Pfeilschifter, W., Czech-Zechmeister, B., Sujak, M., Mirceska, A., Koch, A., Rami,
 A., Steinmetz, H., Foerch, C., Huwiler, A. and Pfeilschifter, J. (2011).
 Activation of sphingosine kinase 2 is an endogenous protective mechanism in cerebral ischemia. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm., 413: 212-217.
- Prince, M. (2015). World Alzheimer report 2015: the global impact of dementia, Alzheimer's Disease International.
- Prince, M., Bryce, R., Albanese, E., Wimo, A., Ribeiro, W. and Ferri, C. P. (2013). The global prevalence of dementia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Alzheimer's & Dementia., 9: 63-75.
- Puglielli, L., Ellis, B. C., Saunders, A. J., and Kovacs, D. M. (2003). Ceramide stabilizes β-site amyloid precursor protein-cleaving enzyme 1 and promotes amyloid β-peptide biogenesis. J. Biol. Chem., 278(22): 19777-19783.
- Radulovic, J. and Tronson, N. C. (2010). Molecular specificity of multiple hippocampal processes governing fear extinction. Rev Neurosci., 21:1-17.
- Revest, P. and Longstaff, A. (1998). Molecular Neuroscience. United Kingdom: Bios Scientific Publishers.
- Riddell, D. R., Christie, G., Hussain, I. and Dingwall, C. (2001). Compartmentalization of β secretase (Asp2) into low-buoyant density,

noncaveolar lipid rafts. Curr. Biol., 11:1288-1293.

- Rikkert, O., Marcel, G.M., Verhey, F.R., Blesa, R., von Arnim, C.A., Bongers, A., Harrison, J., Sijben, J., Scarpini, E., Vandewoude, M.F. and Vellas, B. (2015). Tolerability and safety of Souvenaid in patients with mild Alzheimer's disease: results of multi-center, 24-week, open-label extension study. J Alzheimers Dis., 44: 471–80.
- Rodgers, R. J., Dalvi, A. (1997). Anxiety, defense and the elevated plus-maze. Neurosci Behav Rev., 21, 801-810.
- Salloway, S., Sperling, R., Fox, N.C., Blennow, K., Klunk, W., Raskind, M., Sabbagh, M., Honig, L.S., Porsteinsson, A.P., Ferris, S. and Reichert, M. (2014). Two phase 3 trials of bapineuzumab in mild-to-moderate Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med., 370: 322–33.
- Scott, L. J. (2011). Fingolimod: a review of its use in the management of relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis. CNS Drugs., 25:673–698.
- Sharma, A., Bemis, M. and Desilets, A. R. (2014). Role of medium chain triglycerides (axona(r)) in the treatment of mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen., 29: 409–14.
- Stiedl, O. and Spiess, J. (1997). Effect of tone-dependent fear conditioning on heart rate and behavior of C57BL/6N mice. Behav Neurosci.,111:703-11.
- Tamboli, I. Y., Prager, K., Barth, E., Heneka, M., Sandhoff, K., and Walter, J. (2005). Inhibition of glycosphingolipid biosynthesis reduces secretion of the βamyloid precursor protein and amyloid β-peptide. J. Biol. Chem., 280(30): 28110-28117.
- Thies, W. and Bleiler, L. (2011). 2011 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimer's & dementia: the journal of the Alzheimer's Association. 7: 208-244.
- van Echten-Deckert G, Herget T: Sphingolipid metabolism in neural cells. (2006). Biochim Biophys Acta., 1758:1978-1994.
- Vecsey, C.G., Hawk, J.D., Lattal, K.M., Stein, J.M., Fabian, S.A., Attner, M.A., Cabrera, S.M., McDonough, C.B., Brindle, P.K., Abel, T. and Wood, M.A. (2007). Histone deacetylase inhibitors enhance memory and synaptic plasticity via CREB: CBP-dependent transcriptional activation. J. Neurosci. 27, 6128– 6140.

- Vetrivel, K. S. and Thinakaran, G. (2010). Membrane rafts in Alzheimer's disease βamyloid production. Biochim. Biophys. Acta., 1801: 860–867.
- Whitehouse, P. J., Price, D. L., Clark, A. W., Coyle, J. T. and DeLong, M. R. (1981). Alzheimer disease: evidence for selective loss of cholinergic neurons in the nucleus basalis. Ann. Neurol., 10, 122-126.
- Wong, J. W. H., Abuhusain, H. J., McDonald, K. L. and Don, A. S. (2012). MMSAT: automated quantification of metabolites in selected reaction monitoring experiments. Anal Chem., 84:470–474.
- Yang, X. J., and Seto, E. (2008). The Rpd3/Hda1 family of lysine deacetylases: from bacteria and yeast to mice and men. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Boil., 9(3), 206-218.
- Zhou, Y., Lekic, T., Fathali, N., Ostrowski, R.P., Martin, R.D., Tang, J. and Zhang, J.H. (2010). Isoflurane posttreatment reduces neonatal hypoxic–ischemic brain injury in rats by the sphingosine-1-phosphate/phosphatidylinositol-3kinase/Akt pathway. Stroke, 41(7): 1521-1527.